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ly complex process for all involved. Under
these circumstances, the Court finds that
an award of prejudgment interest would be
patently unfair.

VI. Motion to intervene

[19] Shortly before the second bench
trial in this case, a motion to intervene was
filed on behalf of the Home Insurance
Company. The movant asserts that at the
relevant time it was the worker’s compen-
sation carrier for Bay Haven Marina, and
that in that capacity it has paid workers’
compensation benefits on behalf of dece-
dents Anderson and Brower. The insur-
ance carrier now wishes to intervene in
order to protect its right to a lien on the
proceeds of this action, under Mich.Comp.
Laws Ann. § 418.827.

The other parties to this action object to
the proposed intervention, on various
grounds. They claim that the Michigan
worker’s compensation statute does not ap-
ply in this case, because decedents were
not acting within the scope of their employ-
ment at Bay Haven. Further, they assert
that the state compensation scheme is not
applicable to an accident that occurred on
navigable waters.

The proposed intervenor has not stated
facts showing that it is entitled to inter-
vene in this case. Its motion is based upon
the assertion, made in movant’s brief and
proposed complaint in intervention, that
this action arose out of an injury sustained
by decedents Anderson and Brower while
in the course of their employment with Bay
Haven Marina. The Court, however, al-
ready has specifically found that the dece-
dents were not acting within the course of
their employment at the time of their
deaths. This determination is in line with
Michigan law under the worker’s compen-

11. At the time of the occurrence, as discussed in
the earlier findings of this Court, decedents
Brower, Anderson and Stevenson were re-
turning to Holland from a boat show in Chica-
go. Travel to and attendance at the boat show
arguably was a “special mission” conducted for
the benefit of decedents’ employer. Cf. Bush v.
Parmenter, Forsythe, Rude & Dethmers, 413
Mich. 444, 452, 320 N.W.2d 858 (1982) (recog-
nizing that a journey off employer’s premises
may fall within scope of employment, where
special characteristics of the trip make it an

sation act.!! Therefore, the Court finds no
basis for allowing intervention of the insur-
ance company at this point in the action.

Conclusion

Based upon the foregoing discussion of
facts and law, therefore, the Court orders
that judgment be entered in favor of plain-
tiffs and against defendants in the follow-
ing amounts: for the estate of Anderson,
$981,246.14 (gross award of $1,226,557.67,
reduced by 20% comparative negligence);
for the estate of Brower, $1,301,286.08
(gross award of $1,626,607.60, reduced by
20%); for the estate of Stevenson, $24,000
($30,000 award reduced by 20%); for the
estate of Willsey, $24,000 ($30,000 award
reduced by 20%). The motion to intervene
filed by Home Insurance Co. is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
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Aug. 11, 1988.

United States sought to enjoin Indian
tribes from operating casinos on tribal land

integral part of the employment). However, the
“special mission” theory does not apply when
there has been a sufficient deviation from the
mission to break the nexus between the employ-
ment and the injury. A deviation may be
caused by substantial changes in the risk in-
volved, or in the nature of the activity. Jones v.
TRW, Inc., 139 Mich.App. 751, 362 N.W.2d 801,
804 (1984). In this case, decedents greatly en-
hanced the risks involved in their “mission” by
deciding to return across the lake late in the
day, in a boat they were not familiar with.
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in Michigan. The District Court, Hillman,
Chief Judge, held that United States was
not entitled to permanent injunction prohib-
iting Indian tribes from operating casinos
on tribal land, allegedly in violation of Or-
ganized Crime Control Act and Assimila-
tive Crimes Act, in that criminal prosecu-
tion of tribes under those Acts was ade-
quate remedy at law, absent showing that
tribes’ operations constituted public nui-
sance.

Case dismissed.

1. Injunction =102

Exceptions to rule that courts will not
enjoin criminal activity are if: that activity
is widespread public nuisance, national
emergency warrants departure from rule,
or statute specifically provides for injunc-
tive relief.

2. Injunction ¢=102

United States was not entitled to per-
manent injunction prohibiting Indian tribes
from operating casinos on tribal land, alleg-
edly in violation of Organized Crime Con-
trol Act and Assimilative Crimes Act, in
that criminal prosecution of tribes under
those Acts was adequate remedy at law,
absent showing that tribes’ operations con-
stituted public nuisance. 18 U.S.C.A.
§§ 13, 1955.
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William Rastetter, Cedar, Mich., for
Grand Traverse Band of Ottawa and Chip-
pewa Indians.

OPINION

HILLMAN, Chief Judge.
Factual Background

The United States filed this suit against
five Indian tribes in November of 1985,
requesting declaratory relief and a perma-
nent injunction that would prohibit the
tribes from operating casinos on tribal land
in Michigan. The government alleges that
defendants’ activities are illegal under two
federal criminal statutes: The Organized
Crime Control Act of 1970, 18 U.S.C.
§ 1955 (“OCCA”) and the Assimilative
Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. § 13 (“ACA”). One
of the tribes filed a counterclaim seeking a
declaratory judgment that its operations
are not unlawful.

The government moved for summary
judgment under OCCA on November 21,
1986. The tribal defendants filed a cross-
motion for summary judgment under
OCCA in January of 1987. During 1987,
the parties filed several briefs with the
court accompanied by lengthy appendices.
At a hearing on the motions held December
2, 1987, the court heard arguments from
counsel, requested briefs on the ACA, and
took the parties’ motions under advise-
ment. The parties subsequently filed
cross-motions for summary judgment un-
der the ACA. Final briefs were filed in
late April, 1988.

The parties have submitted affidavits,
deposition transcripts, and responses to in-
terrogatories which total several hundred
pages. The essential facts are not in dis-
pute and all parties concede that the case is
ripe for a decision on the cross-motions for
summary judgment. Four of the five trib-
al defendants presently operate casino
gambling games on tribal lands. The gam-
ing operations of the Bay Mills Indian Com-
munity were closed in August of 1987.
Tribal bingo enterprises are not an issue in
this case, although some of the tribes oper-
ate bingo games as well.
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Three of defendants’ casinos are open to
the public, seven days a week year round.
One is open 5 days a week. Most offer
blackjack, pull-tabs, poker, and craps
games. The tribal casinos generate sub-
stantial revenues which are used to fund
governmental services. The United States
Department of Housing and Urban Devel-
opment and the Department of Health and
Human Services contributed $225,000 to
the development of one of the tribes’ gam-
ing enterprises. This tribe also received
assistance for its gaming operations from
the Department of Interior’s Bureau of In-
dian Affairs in the form of a loan guaran-
tee. Several of the tribes’ casinos are gov-
erned by tribal ordinance. These ordi-
nances impose safeguards such as back-
ground checks for employees, annual au-
dits, and bet or winning limits.

The smallest casino in current operation
employs about 30 people, over 70 percent
of whom are tribal members, the largest
employs over 200 people, over 50 percent
tribal members. Unemployment for the
tribes in 1986 ranged from 32-62 percent.
In an affidavit submitted to the court, an
anthropologist specializing in Michigan In-
dian tribes stated that tribal government
and tribally owned enterprises probably ac-
count for up to one-third of all Indian jobs
and that gaming operations account for at
least half of all tribal employment. He
concludes that the tribal governments are
heavily dependent on gaming for their eco-
nomic welfare. A report of a Michigan
House of Representatives Ad Hoc Commit-
tee dated May 1986 states that many tribes
use gambling as a means of reducing de-
pendence on government funded social wel-
fare programs and that gambling on Indian
reservations in Michigan has led to finan-
cial benefits for the reservations as well as
surrounding Michigan communities.

Discussion

Before reaching the merits of the dis-
pute, that is, whether or not defendants are
violating federal criminal statutes, I feel
obligated to consider an issue not raised by
the parties: the propriety of enforcing
criminal statutes through declaratory judg-

ment and injunction rather than through
criminal prosecution.

As a general rule, a court may not enjoin
the commission of a crime. See In re Debs,
158 U.S. 564, 593, 15 S.Ct. 900, 909, 39
L.Ed. 1092 (1895); United States v. Zenon,
711 F.2d 476, 479 (1st Cir.1983); SEC wv.
Carriba Air, Inc, 681 F.2d 1318, 1321
(11th Cir.1982); United States v. Jalas, 409
F.2d 358 (7th Cir.1969); Wharton’s Crimi-
nal Procedure §§ 22-27 (12th ed. 1974); 11
C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice
and Procedure § 2942, pp. 386-87 (1973),
5 Moore’s Federal Practice 1 38.24[3] at
38-199 to 38-204 (2d ed. 1987); Develop-
ments in the Law—Injunctions, 78 Harv.
L.Rev. 994, 1013 (1965); 42 Am.Jur.2d In-
Junctions § 157 (1969). See also United
States v. Guest, 383 U.S. 745, 769 n. 4
(1966) (Harlan, J., concurring in part and
dissenting in part).

The rule is based on two concerns: First,
criminal prosecution generally provides an
adequate remedy at law so that equitable
relief is unnecessary, and, second, injunc-
tive relief may deny a defendant the proce-
dural rights otherwise available in a crimi-
nal prosecution. See Developments, supra
at 1016; Moore’s, supra.

[1] At least three exceptions to the rule
that courts will not enjoin criminal activity
have developed over the years. A court
may properly enjoin activity that is in viola-
tion of criminal law, if 1) that activity is a
widespread public nuisance, 2) a national
emergency warrants departure from the
rule, or 3) a statute specifically provides
for injunctive relief. See, e.g., Jalas, 409
F.2d at 360.

[2] Applying these principles to the
case before me, I conclude that the United
States is not entitled to equitable relief
declaring defendants in violation of crimi-
nal statutes or enjoining defendants from
continuing to violate criminal statutes.
Criminal prosecution of defendants under
OCCA and the ACA is an adequate remedy
at law, readily available to plaintiff. Plain-
tiff has not shown nor suggested that pros-
ecution of defendants is an inadequate rem-
edy. The government has not argued, nor
does the record reflect, for example, that



780

plaintiff would have difficulty instituting a
prosecution, or that the sanctions provided
for violations of 18 U.S.C. § 13 and § 1955
are too trivial to provide adequate relief.
See Developments, supra at 1016-17. Cf.
United States v. City of Philadelphia, 644
F.2d 187, 193 (38d Cir.1980) (affirming dis-
missal of complaint for injunctive and de-
claratory relief, rejecting argument of
United States that criminal prosecutions
under 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and 242 are inade-
quate remedies). The issue of the applica-
bility of OCCA and the ACA to each de-
fendant’s conduct may be raised in the
context of a criminal prosecution.

Congress could have, but has not, provid-
ed for injunctive relief as a remedy for
violations of OCCA or the ACA. Compare
United States v. Odessa Union Ware-
house Co-op, 833 F.2d 172 (9th Cir.1987)
(enjoining violation of Food, Drug, and Cos-
metic Act under 21 U.S.C. § 332(a)); Unit-
ed States v. White, 769 F.2d 511 (8th Cir.
1985) (enjoining violations of Internal Reve-
nue Code under 26 U.S.C. § 7408); SEC v.
Carriba "Air, Inc., 681 F.2d 1318, 1321
(11th Cir.1982) (enjoining securities viola-
tions under 15 U.S.C. § 77t); United States
v. Winstead, 421 F.Supp. 295 (N.D.I11.1976)
(injunctive relief available to enjoin gam-
bling in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962 under
18 U.S.C. § 1964).

Nowhere in the record do I find any
support for a finding of national emergen-
cy authorizing injunctive relief in lieu of
prosecution. Compare Zenon, 711 F.2d at
479 (district court found appellants had in-
terfered substantially with operations vital
to the national defense).

The remaining exception for public nui-
sance is also inapplicable. Compare Na-
tional Assn. of Letter Carriers, AFL-CIO
v. Independent Postal System of America,
Inc., 336 F.Supp. 804, 811 (W.D.Ok.1971)
(illegal operation in 45 cities involving 25
million Christmas cards was ‘‘widespread
public nuisance”), aff’d, 470 F.2d 265 (10th
Cir.1972); United States v. Mcintire, 365
F.Supp. 618, 623 (D.N.J.1973) (radio broad-
casting without a license is the type of
public nuisance which may be restrained by
injunction); United States v. County Bd.
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of Arlington Co., 487 F.Supp. 137, 143-44
(E.D.Va.1979); United States v. Ira S.
Bushey & Soms, Inc., 363 F.Supp. 110
(D.Vt.), aff'd, 487 F.2d 1393 (2d Cir.1973),
cert. denied, 417 U.S. 976, 94 S.Ct. 3182, 41
L.Ed.2d 1146 (1974). See also In re Debs,
158 U.S. at §92-94, 15 S.Ct. at 909-10. I
recognize that the legislature of the State
of Michigan has declared that any building
used for the purpose of gambling is a nui-
sance which may be enjoined and abated in
state court under certain circumstances.
See M.C.L.A. §§ 600.3801-3830. See also
Am.Jur.2d Gambling § 118 at p. 195 (1968)
(other jurisdictions allowing injunctive re-
lief against gambling as a public nuisance).
However, plaintiff has never suggested to
the court that it is seeking an injunction in
order to remedy a public nuisance or to
right a civil wrong. The government seeks
injunctive relief solely as a means to en-
force federal criminal statutes. Moreover,
I find nothing in the record to support a
finding that defendants’ operations consti-
tute a public nuisance. No evidence sug-
gests that defendants’ operations have
caused or will cause injury to the public or
private interests of the United States. In-
deed, a report of the Michigan House Ad
Hoc Committee concluded that defendants’
activity has led to financial benefits for the
reservations as well as to surrounding Mi-
chigan communities.

Admittedly, in United States v. Dakota,
796 F.2d 186 (6th Cir.1986), the Sixth Cir-
cuit upheld the grant of declaratory relief
and permanent injunction against defend-
ants for violations of OCCA and the ACA.
However, since the propriety of equitable
relief was never raised or addressed in
either the opinion of the lower court, see
United States v. Dakota, 666 F.Supp. 989
(W.D.Mich.1985), nor the opinion of the
Court of Appeals, I do not consider Dako-
ta, either precedential or persuasive au-
thority for granting the equitable relief
sought by the government. Aside from
Dakota, and an unpublished opinion in
United States v. Lummi Indian Tribe,
No. C83-94C (W.D.Wash.1983, February
17, 1983), I have found no case in which the
United States sought to enforce OCCA or
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the ACA by injunction instead of by indict-
ment.

In addition to the availability of an ade-
quate remedy at law, other equitable con-
siderations persuade me that injunctive re-
lief is inappropriate. First, the record dis-
closes that enjoining defendants’ opera-
tions would cause substantial financial
hardship to the tribes and their members.
Nowhere does the government dispute this
conclusion. On the other hand, the harm
allegedly precipitated by not enjoining de-
fendants consists only of unproved specula-
tion of the possibility that organized crime
might infiltrate defendants’ operations be-
fore the United States could litigate the
legality of defendants’ operations in crimi-
nal prosecutions. I am unmoved by this
speculation.

Second, in an equitable proceeding, the
court must consider the public interest.
While the United States Attorney repre-
sents the interests of the citizens of the
Western District of Michigan in attempting
to close down the tribes’ casinos, other
Departments and branches in the federal
government have considerable interest in
encouraging tribal gambling operations.
See California v. Cabazon Band of Mis-
ston Indians, 480 U.S. 202, 107 S.Ct. 1083,
1092-93, 94 L.Ed.2d 244 (1987). The Su-
preme Court in discussing the ‘‘important
federal interest” in “encouraging tribal
self-sufficiency and economic development”
stated:

The ... reservations contain no natural

resources which can be exploited. The

tribal games at present provide the sole
source of revenues for the operation of
the tribal governments and the provision
of tribal services. They are also the
major sources of employment on the res-
ervations. Self-determination and eco-
nomic development are not within reach
if the Tribes cannot raise revenues and
provide employment for their members.

Certainly the well established federal in-
terest in promoting tribal economic self-
sufficiency would be thwarted by granting
the requested relief.

Congress has been struggling for years
to enact a federal law expressly regulating

tribal gambling enterprises. The latest
bills currently under consideration attempt
to balance the federal and state interests in
controlling organized crime with federal
and tribal interests in economic self-suffi-
ciency, a balance never considered by those
who enacted OCCA or the ACA. See, e.g.,
S. 555, 100th Cong., 1st Sess. (1987); H.R.
1079, 100th Cong., 1st Sess. (1987); S. 1303,
100th Cong. 1st Sess. (1987); 134 Cong.
Rec. E2132 (June 22, 1988) (statement of
Rep. Coelho); 133 Cong. Rec. S7454 (June
2, 1987) (statement of Sen. McCain); 134
Cong.Rec. H5028 (July 6, 1988) (statement
of Rep. Udall). Until Congress acts, how-
ever, plaintiff is confined to existing code
provisions and the remedies those statutes
provide.

In sum, Congress did not provide the
extraordinary remedy of injunction as a
means to enforce OCCA or the ACA, and I
will not imply it.

For similar reasons, I decline to issue a
declaratory judgment concerning whether
or not defendants are violating criminal
law. Declaratory relief, like injunctive re-
lief, is discretionary. See Manley, Ben-
nett, McDonald & Co. v. St. Paul Fire &
Marine Ins. Co., 791 F.2d 460, 462 (6th
Cir.1986). Although Rule 57 provides that
the “existence of another adequate remedy
does not preclude a judgment for declarato-
ry relief in cases where it is appropriate,” I
am satisfied declaratory relief is inappro-
priate in this case since “more effective
relief can and should be obtained by anoth-
er procedure.” Cunningham Brothers,
Inc. v. Bail, 407 F.2d 1165 (7th Cir.), cert.
denied, 359 U.S. 959, 89 S.Ct. 2100, 23
L.Ed.2d 745 (1969); see also Manley, 791
F.2d at 462 (listing more effective or better
alternative remedy as one of the factors a
court should consider in deciding whether a
case is suitable for declaratory judgment).
The public interest in encouraging tribal
self-sufficiency is also a legitimate consid-
eration in deciding whether to grant declar-
atory relief. See, e.g., National Wildlife
Federation v. United States, 626 F.2d 917,
924 (D.C.Cir.1980).
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Accordingly, the motions for summary
judgment are denied and for the reasons
stated the case is dismissed.
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TRUSTEES OF the GRAPHIC COMMU-
NICATIONS INTERNATIONAL UN-
ION LOCAL 546 HEALTH & WEL-
FARE FUND, et al.,, Plaintiffs,
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LITH-O-KRAFT PLATE CO., INC., dba
Lithokraft, Defendant.

Civ. A. No. C86-4474.

United States District Court,
N.D. Ohio, E.D.

June 1, 1988.

Trustees of health and welfare fund
sued employer for employer’s failure to
make contributions to fund. The District
Court, Ann Aldrich, J., held that: (1) collec-
tive bargaining agreement did not impose
withdrawal liability on employer, and (2)
Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments
Act did not impose withdrawal liability on
employers who withdrew from multiem-
ployer health or welfare benefit fund.

Ordered accordingly.

1. Pensions €=102, 103

Collective bargaining agreements to
which employer had been party did not
obligate employer to fund its pro rata of
present share of ongoing and future liabili-
ty for health and welfare benefits in re-
spect of all employees who retired during
period in which employer was participate in
fund; employer fulfilled its obligation un-
der agreement to contribute funds and
agreement did not impose any withdrawal
liability that employer would incur upon its
withdrawal from fund.
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2. Pensions ¢=101

Failure of employee health and benefit
fund to establish any violation of terms of
plan absolved employer from liability under
Labor Management Relations Act and Em-
ployee Retirement Income Security Act for
failing to make payments to fund. Labor
Management Relations Act, 1947, §§ 301,
301(a), 29 U.S.C.A. §§ 185, 185(a); Employ-
ee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
§§ 502, 502(a), as amended, 29 U.S.C.A.
§§ 1132, 1132(a).

3. Pensions &103

Multiemployer Pension Plan Amend-
ments Act did not impose withdrawal liabil-
ity on employers who withdrew from mul-
tiemployer health or welfare benefit funds
and instead Act’s coverage was limited to
pension benefit funds. Multiemployer Pen-
sion Plan Amendments Act of 1980, § 3 et
seq., 29 U.S.C.A. § 1001a et seq.

Stanley D. Gottsegen, R. Jeffrey Pollock,
Burke, Haber & Berick, Cleveland, Ohio,
for plaintiffs.

Robert T. Rosenfeld, Mary G. Balazs,
Walter, Haverfield, Buescher & Chockley,
Cleveland, Ohio, for defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

ANN ALDRICH, District Judge.

The trustees of the Graphic Communica-
tions International Union Local 546 Health
& Welfare Fund (the “Fund”), plaintiffs
herein, have sued the Lith-O-Kraft Plate
Company, dba Lithokraft (“Lithokraft”) for
the latter’s failure to make contributions to
the Fund, as is allegedly required by the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act,
29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et seq. (“ERISA”), and
by a series of collective bargaining agree-
ments into which the Fund entered with
Lithokraft and other employers. The Fund
now moves for summary judgment with
respect to Lithokraft’s liability under
ERISA and the Labor Management Rela-
tions Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 141 et seq., (counts I
and IV of its complaint), but does not ex-
plicitly address its breach of contract and



